GFILED

SID J. WHITE

JUL 25 1995

CLERK, SUPREME COURT
By
Chief Deputy Clerk

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CASE NO.: 85,971

DEWEY KEITH BEAGLE and MELISSA DARLENE BEAGLE,

Petitioners,

vs.

ROY THOMAS BEAGLE and SHARON WHITMAN BEAGLE,

Respondents.

On Appeal from a Decision of the First District Court of Appeal

PETITIONERS' INITIAL BRIEF ON THE MERITS

Wm. J. Sheppard, Esquire
Florida Bar No.: 109154
Richard W. Smith, Esquire
Florida Bar No.: 013943
Sheppard and White, P.A.
215 Washington Street
Jacksonville, Florida 32202
Phone: (904) 356-9661
Facsimile: (904) 356-9667

COUNSEL FOR PETITIONERS

PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

Dewey Keith Beagle and Melissa Darlene Beagle will be referred to as "petitioners" or "parents." Roy Thomas Beagle and Sharron Whitman Beagle will be referred to as "respondents" or "grandparents." References to the record will be designated "R.," followed by the appropriate page(s) set out in brackets. For example, [R. 1].

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS AND CASE

The petitioners, Dewey Keith Beagle and Melissa Darlene Beagle, are the natural parents of Amber Beagle. The respondents, Roy Thomas Beagle and Sharron Whitman Beagle, are the paternal grandparents of Amber Beagle.

The grandparents filed a Petition to Establish Grandparent Visitation Rights on August 5, 1993, pursuant to §752.01(1)(e), Fla. Stat. (1993), alleging that the parents had prohibited them from having a relationship with the child. [R. 2-4]. On June 28, 1993, the grandparents filed a Motion for Temporary Visitation. [R. 7-9]. The parents filed a Motion to Dismiss the Motion for Temporary Visitation on July 6, 1993. [R. 10]. The parents also filed a Motion to Dismiss the Petition to Establish Grandparent Visitation Rights. [R. 12].

On July 30, 1993, the Fourth Judicial Circuit Court in and for Clay County (herein referred to as the "trial court") entered a temporary order granting grandparent visitation. [R. 18-20]. On November 19, 1993, an Order Granting Motion to Strike and Notice to Set Final Hearing was granted by the trial court. [R. 32]. The parties submitted memoranda of law as to the Motion to Dismiss Petition to Establish Grandparent Visitation Rights. [R. 33-46].

The trial court, on December 30, 1993, entered its Order granting the parents' Motion to Dismiss, holding that \$752.01(1)(e), Fla. Stat. (1993), is unconstitutional because it violates the parents' right of privacy provided under Article I,

section 23 of the Florida Constitution and the Fourteenth Amendment to the United States Constitution. [R. 48-57].

On January 28, 1995, the grandparents filed a Notice of Appeal in the First District Court of Appeal from the trial court's decision. Following appellate briefs, the First District on May 16, 1995, entered its Opinion reversing the trial court's order and certifying the following question to the Florida Supreme Court as one of great public importance:

Is section 752.01(1)(e), Florida Statutes (1993), facially unconstitutional because it constitutes impermissible state interference with parental rights protected by either Article I, Section 23, of the Florida Constitution or the Due Process Clause of the Fourteenth Amendment to the United States Constitution?

Beagle v. Beagle, 20 Fla. L. Weekly D1203 (Fla. 1st DCA May 16, 1995).

Thereafter, on June 26, 1995, the parents timely filed its Notice to Invoke Discretionary Jurisdiction of the Florida Supreme Court. [Notice to Invoke Discretionary Jurisdiction]. The petitioners' Initial Brief on the Merits follows.

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

Florida's grandparent visitation statute, \$752.01(1)(e), Fla. Stat. (1993), violates Article I, Section 23 of the Florida Constitution. Article I, Section 23 provides greater privacy protection than the United States Constitution. Thus, parents have a fundamental and constitutional privacy right in raising their children without undue state interference. To intrude upon this right, the State must be serving a compelling state interest through the least intrusive means. The compelling state interest must involve the prevention of harm to the child. Since \$752.01(1)(e) permits the State to interfere with the parents' constitutional privacy rights without a demonstration of harm to the child, it is unconstitutional. Further, the promotion of litigation, possibly directly involving the child, is not the least intrusive means to any purported state interest.

Section 752.01(1)(e) also violates the Fourteenth Amendment to the United States Constitution. Under the Federal Constitution, parents have a liberty and privacy interest in the care, custody and management of their children. To permit any governmental interference into these rights, there must be a powerful countervailing interest. The United States Supreme Court has interpreted this interest to mean that there must first be a showing of harm to the child as a result of the parents' decision. Accordingly, because §752.01(1)(e) allows the State to intrude upon the parents' rights to raise their children without any

demonstration of harm, it unconstitutionally violates the Fourteenth Amendment.

The First District incorrectly relied upon <u>Sketo v. Brown</u>, 559 So.2d 381 (Fla. 1st DCA 1990), when it improperly found §752.01(1)(e) facially constitutional. <u>Sketo</u> is both factually distinguishable from the instant case and fails to apply the correct constitutional standards. Therefore, the <u>Sketo</u> decision deserves no consideration, or in the alternative, should be rejected to the extent that it applies to §752.01(1)(e), Fla. Stat. (1993).

ARGUMENT

I.

THE FIRST DISTRICT ERRED IN HOLDING SUBSECTION 752.01(1)(e), FLA. STAT. (1993), CONSTITUTIONAL BECAUSE IT CONSTITUTES IMPERMISSIBLE STATE INTERFERENCE WITH FUNDAMENTAL PARENTAL RIGHTS PROTECTED BY THE FLORIDA AND UNITED STATES CONSTITUTIONS.

A. Section 752.01(1)(e), Fla. Stat., Violates Article I, Section 23 of the Florida Constitution.

Article I, Section 23, of the Florida Constitution states that except as otherwise provided, "Every natural person has a right to be let alone and free from governmental intrusion into his private life...." This Court, in Winfield v. Division of Pari-Mutuel Wagering, 477 So.2d 544, 546 (Fla. 1985), provided a concise background of the significance of the right of privacy of Floridians:

The concept of privacy or right to be let alone is deeply rooted in our heritage and is founded upon historical notions and federal constitutional expressions of ordered liberty. Justice Brandeis, sometimes called the father of the idea of privacy, recognized this fundamental right of privacy when he wrote:

The makers of our Constitution undertook to secure conditions favorable to the pursuit happiness. They recognized the significance οf man's spiritual nature, of his feelings and of his intellect.... They sought protect Americans in their beliefs, their thoughts, their emotions and their sensations. They conferred, as against the Government, the right be let alone the comprehensive of rights and right most valued by civilized men. Olmstead v. United States, 277 U.S.

438, 478, 48 s.Ct. 564, 572, 72 L.Ed. 944 (1928) (Brandeis, J., dissenting).

The United States Supreme Court has fashioned privacy which protects right of decision-making or autonomy zone of privacy interests of the individual. The Court's decisions include matters concerning marriage, procreation, contraception, family relationships child and rearing, and education.

(emphasis added). Historically, this Court has acknowledged and affirmed parents' protected rights in the care, custody and management of their children. <u>See</u>, <u>infra</u>, Subsection B. However, with the enactment of Article I, Section 23, Florida has increased that protection:

The citizens of Florida opted for more protection from governmental intrusion when they approved article I, section 23, of the Florida Constitution. This amendment is an independent, freestanding constitutional provision which declares the fundamental right to privacy. Article I, section 23, was intentionally phrased in strong terms. drafters of the amendment rejected the use of the words "unreasonable" or "unwarranted" before the phrase "governmental intrusion" in order to make the privacy right as strong as Since the people of this state exercised their prerogative and enacted an amendment to the Florida Constitution which expressly and succinctly provides for a strong right of privacy not found in the United States Constitution, it can only be concluded that the right is much broader in scope than that of the Federal Constitution.

* * *

We believe that the amendment should be interpreted in accordance with the intent of its drafters.

Winfield, supra, at 548; see Mozo v. State, 632 So.2d 623 (Fla. 1994); In re T.W., 551 So.2d 1186 (Fla. 1989) (Art. I, §23 provides for more protection from governmental intrusion into one's right of privacy than the United States Constitution).

Accordingly, it is indisputable that this Court has recognized that parents have a fundamental and constitutional right to raise their children without state interference as protected and bolstered by the right of privacy. In re Dubreuil, 629 So.2d 819 (Fla. 1993). "We recognize that a constitutionally protected interest exists in preserving the family unit and in raising one's children." In the Interest of E.H., 609 So.2d 1289, 1290 (Fla. 1992). "[T]his Court and others have recognized a longstanding and fundamental liberty interest of parents in determining the care and upbringing of their children free from the heavy hand of government paternalism." Padgett v. Dept. of Health & Rehabilitative Services, 577 So.2d 565, 570 (Fla. 1991). Family matters such as child rearing and education are privacy rights "which are fundamental or implicit in the concept of ordered liberty." Florida Board of Bar Examiners re: Applicant, 443 So.2d 71, 76 (Fla. 1983). "[T]here is a constitutionally protected interest in preserving the family unit and in raising one's children." In the Interest of D.B. & D.S., 385 So.2d 83, 90 (Fla. 1980). nevertheless cannot lose sight of the basic proposition that a parent has a natural God-given legal right to enjoy the custody, fellowship and companionship of his offspring." State ex rel. Sparks v. Reeves, 97 So.2d 18, 20 (Fla. 1957). "[A] parent has a

natural right to enjoy the custody, fellowship and companionship of his offspring." In re Guardianship of D.A. McW., 429 So.2d 699, 702 (Fla. 4th DCA 1983), approved, 460 So.2d 368 (Fla. 1984). "In our society the family unit is swathed in the protection of the constitution, and any substantial interference directly affecting the family must be supported by countervailing and superior interests." Franklin v. White Egret Condominium, Inc., 358 So.2d 1084, 1090 (Fla. 4th DCA 1978), aff'd., 379 so.2d 346 (Fla. 1980). "The right of the parents to the custody, care and upbringing of the most basic rights of their children is one of civilization." Foster v. Sharpe, 114 So.2d 373, 376 (Fla. 3d DCA 1959). The State of Florida has "recognized the superior rights of the parents to custody and control of their children." Williamson, 3 Fla. L. Weekly Supp. 272, 273 (Fla. 6th Cir. Ct. Thus, §752.01(1)(e), Fla. Stat. is clearly an intrusion into the constitutionally protected rights of the parents.

Even the Florida House Judiciary Committee realized this would likely be the case when it considered the amendment to add subsection (e) to §752.01(1). Its Final Analysis noted "[t]his bill would create the first opportunity of court-ordered grandparent visitation involving an intact family and may implicate the right of privacy protected by Article I, s. 23, Florida Constitution, and by a series of U.S. Supreme Court cases." Paragraph V, Final Bill Analysis by the House of Representatives Committee on Judiciary on Bill CS/HB 1685, dated April 16, 1993 (emphasis added).

To combat such undue interference, this Court has established a strong standard of review in determining whether there has been a violation of one's privacy right under Article I, Section 23, as follows:

Since the privacy section as adopted contains no textual standard of review, it is important for us to identify an explicit standard to be applied in order to give proper force and effect to the amendment. The right of privacy a fundamental right which we believe compelling demands the state This test shifts the burden of standard. proof to the state to justify an intrusion on privacy. The burden can be demonstrating that the challenged regulation compelling a state interest accomplishes its goal through the use of the least intrusive means.

<u>Winfield</u>, <u>supra</u>, at 547 (emphasis added). This Court has stressed the difficulty of the State in overcoming this burden:

We reaffirm, however, that this is a highly stringent standard, emphasized by the fact that no government intrusion in the personal decisionmaking cases cited above has survived.

T.W., supra, at 1192 (emphasis added). "To be sure, this standard is the most exacting applied on review by the judiciary." Mozo, supra, at 633.

This Court has explicitly stated:

[T]he concept of privacy encompasses much more than the right to control the disclosure of

^{&#}x27; It has been stated that "[t]he compelling state interest or strict scrutiny standard imposes a heavy burden of justification upon the state to show an important societal need...." Florida Board of Bar Examiners re: Applicant, 443 So.2d 71, 74 (Fla. 1984). However, the desire to promote relationships between grandparents and grandchildren over intact parental objection simply does not rise to the level of "societal need" necessary to justify the violation of the right of privacy of parenting.

information about oneself. "Privacy" has been used interchangeably with the common understanding of the notion of "liberty," and both imply a fundamental right of self-determination subject only to the state's compelling and overriding interest.

In re Guardianship of Browning, 568 So.2d 4, 9-10 (Fla. 1990).

Accordingly, it is axiomatic that since the parents' authority to raise their children is a basic, fundamental right, it cannot be usurped or impinged by the government except when doing so serves a compelling state interest and accomplishes its goals with the least intrusive means. B.B. v. State, 20 Fla. L. Weekly S306, 307 (Fla. June 29, 1995); Winfield, supra, at 547 (Fla. 1985); D.A. McW., supra, at 702; see, Moore v. City of East Cleveland, 431 U.S. 494 (1977); Rowe v. Wade, 410 U.S. 113, 155 (1973). In addition, this Court has held that when there is a dispute between a natural parent and a third party, such as a grandparent, the test must also include consideration of the natural parents' right to enjoy the custody, fellowship and companionship of the child. D.A. McW., supra, at 702; see Michael J. Minerva, Jr., Grandparent Visitation: The Parental Privacy Right to Raise Their "Bundle of Joy,", 18 Fla. State U. L. Rev. 533, 551 (1991) ("[W]hen the dispute is between a parent and a non-parent, the court must do more than simply decide in which situation the child will be better off.").

In recognizing the importance of parental rights, this Court has clearly established that a "compelling state interest" is one which involves the prevention of harm to the child, whether by abuse, neglect or abandonment. <u>E.H.</u>, <u>supra</u> at 1290; <u>Padgett</u>, <u>supra</u> at 570. Therefore, there must be a demonstration of harm to the

child caused by the parents before the State can interfere into the fundamental right of privacy of the parents. In other words, there must also be an actual threat to the child's physical, emotional or mental well-being prior to the State intruding into the parents' fundamental right. Padgett, supra, at 570 (compelling interest justifying state interference in dependency contacts protects children "against the clear threat of abuse, neglect and death"). Absent such a demonstration of substantial harm, as in the instant case, the parents' constitutional authority would be usurped in violation of Art. I, §23 of the Florida Constitution. [W]ithout a substantial danger of harm to the child, a court may not constitutionally impose subjective notions of the best interest of the child when an intact, nuclear family, with fit, married parents is involved.

Hawk v. Hawk, 855 S.W.2d 573 (Tenn. 1993). Thus, §752.01(1)(e) is unconstitutional because it fails to require a demonstration of harm to the child prior to unduly intruding upon the parents' constitutional privacy rights.

In addition to the fact that there must be a compelling state interest, the challenged statute must also be the least intrusive means of furthering that state interest. Even if one were to argue that there was a compelling state interest being served by granting grandparent visitation over the objection of the parents, the resulting effect of promoting litigation between family members, bringing the intrafamily problems to court and possibly subjecting minor children to judicial inquiry is not the "least intrusive" means of furthering the state interest.

In light of the consistent recognition this Court has given to parental rights, it is proper for parents to expect privacy regarding their decisions as to with whom their children can and cannot visit, even if it regards visitation with grandparents. Besides, "[u]nder this view, any margin of error with regard to the interpretation of the right of privacy in Florida should be in favor of the individual." Mozo, supra at 634.

In Hawk v. Hawk, 855 s.W.2d 573 (Tenn. 1993), the Tennessee Supreme Court held that the Tennessee Grandparents' Visitation Act violated the state constitutional right to privacy in parenting decisions. Just as in Florida, Tennessee's statute provided for court-ordered grandparent visitation upon a showing of the "best interests of the child." Although Tennessee's state Constitution does not contain a specific section granting the right to privacy as does the Florida Constitution, the Tennessee Supreme Court has expressly found that the right to privacy "is nevertheless reflected in several sections of the Tennessee Declaration of Rights...." Id. at 579, quoting, Davis v. Davis, 842 S.W.2d 588 The Hawk court concluded "that the same right to (Tenn. 1992). privacy espoused in <u>Davis</u> fully protects the right of parents to care for their children without unwarranted state intervention." Hawk, supra, at 579.

As in the instant case, the grandparents in <u>Hawk</u> directly challenged the privacy rights of the parents by seeking court-ordered visitation, arguing that grandparent visitation is in the

best interest of the child. However, the Hawk court specifically held:

We find, however, that without a substantial danger of harm to the child, a court may not constitutionally impose its own subjective notions of the "best interest of the child" when an intact, nuclear family with fit, married parents is involved.

Id. In reaching this holding, the Court reasoned:

By holding that an initial showing of harm to a child is necessary before the State may intervene to determine the "best interests of the child," we approve the reasoning of both Tennessee and federal cases that have balanced against parental various state interests privacy rights. Implicit in Tennessee case statutory law has always been insistence that a child's welfare must be threatened before the State may intervene in parental decision-making.

The requirement of harm is the sole protection that parents have against pervasive state interference in the parenting process.

We, too, agree that neither the legislature court may properly intervene parenting decisions absent significant harm to child from those decisions. holding, we approve the logic of Santosky v. Kramer, 455 U.S. 745, 102 S.Ct. 1388, L.Ed.2d 599 (1982), which applied a two-step process to child neglect cases leading to foster family placement.... approach An requiring a court to make an initial finding of harm to the child before evaluating the "best interests of the child" works equally well in this case to prevent judicial secondguessing of parental decisions. scholar has written:

> If the courts attempt to resolve these disputes when the only thing at stake is a grandparent's argument

"better" that visitation is a child. for the the decision of the child with the placement parent becomes subject to court's supervision and judgment of what are the best decisions for that child.

Id. at 580-81.

The <u>Hawk</u> court properly rejected the argument that the grandparent-grandchild relationships always benefit children, because it "overlooks the necessity of a threshold finding of harm <u>before</u> the State can intervene in the parent-child relationship." <u>Id</u>. at 581 (emphasis added). The <u>Hawk</u> court concluded its decision by stating:

We hold that Article I, Section 8 of the Tennessee Constitution protects the privacy interest of these parents in their childrearing decisions, so long as their decisions do not substantially endanger the welfare of Absent some harm to the their children. State child, we find that the sufficiently compelling justification for interfering with this fundamental right. When applied to married parents who have maintained continuous custody of their children and have acted as fit parents, we conclude that court interference pursuant to T.C.A. §36-6-301 constitutes an unconstitutional invasion of Tennessee rights under the privacy We therefore reverse both the Constitution. judgment of the trial court and that of the Court of Appeals granting visitation in this case.

Id. at 582.

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