# FILE D

IN THE SUPREME COURT
OF FLORIDA

CLERK, SUPREME COURT

SEP 15 1995

Chief Deputy Clerk

CASE NO.: 85,971

DEWEY KEITH BEAGLE and MELISSA DARLENE BEAGLE,

Petitioners,

vs.

ROY THOMAS BEAGLE and SHARON WHITMAN BEAGLE,

Respondents.

On Appeal from a Decision of the First District Court of Appeal

RESPONDENTS' ANSWER BRIEF ON THE MERITS

NANCY N. NOWLIS, ATTORNEY
Fla. Bar No. 0633984
1200 Riverplace Blvd., # 630
Jacksonville, FL 32207
Telephone: (904) 398-6100
Facsimile: (904) 398-7033
Counsel for Respondents

####

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

#### SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

Petitioners and Amicus Curiae argue that §752.01(1)(e) of the Grandparent Visitation Statute violates Art. 1 §23 of the Florida Constitution because it intrudes upon married parents' parental authority without requiring proof of substantial harm to the chid. There is a compelling state interest in preserving children's close relationship with their grandparents, as demonstrated in precedent from Florida and other states and in the legislature history of this subsection. The Florida statute is particularly well-crafted to intrude upon parental authority in the least intrusive manner because it requires a prior long term and meaningful relationship between grandparent and child along with five other factors and it also requires mediation.

The issue in this case is actually the proper construction of the phrase "best interest of the child" found in §752.01(2) Fla. Stats. (1993). Does it mean that a trial court is provided with unbridled license to intrude upon parents' rights and require extensive visitation even in situations where grandparents have never had contact with their grandchildren? Respondents suggest that in construing this act, this court should consider those words, as they have in other cases involving intrusions upon parental rights by the state. The resulting examination of Florida law reveals that this statute provides that before parental rights are intruded upon there must be proof that the state action advances the best interests or welfare of the child.

Starting by its absence in the initial briefs is any recognition that minor children have a constitutional right to family autonomy, which this statute protects and advances.

Because this subsection meets the standards of Article 1, §23 of the Florida Constitution, which are even higher than the standards imposed under the Federal Constitution, the subsection therefore complies with the Fourteenth Amendment. However, to find this section unconstitutional would violate the equal protection clause of the United States Constitution. There is a liberty and privacy interest in family autonomy. The Grandparent Visitation Act treats all six classes of married and non-married parents, children of married and non-married parents, and parents of married and non-married parents equally. There is no basis for discriminating among these classes and any such discrimination could not survive a strict scrutiny or rational basis inquiry.

#### ARGUMENT

ISSUE ONE:

WHETHER THE FIRST DISTRICT ERRED IN SUBSECTION HOLDING 752.01(1)(e), FLA.STATS. (1993), CONSTITUTIONAL BECAUSE IT CONSTITUTES IMPERMISSIBLE STATE INTERFERENCE WITH FUNDAMENTAL PARENTAL RIGHTS PROTECTED BY FLORIDA UNITED STATES AND CONSTITUTION.

A WHETHER SECTION 752.01(1)(e), FLA.STATS., VIOLATES ARTICLE 1, SECTION 23 OF THE FLORIDA CONSTITUTION.

The trial court opinion and Petitioners both relied heavily upon a law review article by Michael J. Minerva, Jr., Grandparent <u>Visitation:</u> The Parental Privacy Right to Raise their "Bundle of Joy", 18 Fla. St. U.L. Rev. 533 (1991). Minerva addressed the issue of whether parental rights, provided under the U.S. Constitution and Article 1 §23 of the Florida Constitution were violated by grandparent visitation. His thesis is that parental rights are comparable to real property rights - the "bundle of sticks" concept - taught in Property I classes. "The phase refers to the quantum of ownership in a piece of property". Minerva at Minerva doesn't claim the analogy is perfect, but it is actually very revealing. This approach treats children like inanimate objects, incapable of possessing any rights. Married parents have the most sticks; comparable to ownership in fee simple. Upon death, the surviving parent gets the whole bundle, analogous to the effect of a death upon tenancy by the entireties. A divorce would be comparable to a partition. Respondents deny that the comparison is valid. Children are not owned like property

and do have inherent rights themselves. Minerva excluded from consideration in his article any rights of children and potential equal protection issues. Minerva, ft.nt. 5, p. 534.

Minerva does assert and respondents agree that the most important criterion in the grandparental visitation rights statute is the length and quality of the relationship. "In situations where the two have a close relationship which the parents attempt to sever, the state's interest in intervening and protecting the child is strongest." Minerva at 537. "Because of the new statutory criteria, a court cannot perfunctorily award visitation without considering the quality of the existing relationship." Minerva at 540. The trial judge is left to determine, on a case by case basis, the effect upon the child caused by severance of the grandparent visitation.

Although it could never be suspected from a review of the Initial Briefs in this case, much case law exists extolling the importance of the grandchild/grandparent relationship. A recent Pennsylvania Supreme Court opinion addressed the general topic of grandparent visitation and children's rights in that regard:

It does not take lengthy study of the writings of philosopher John Locke to conclude that our citizens retain natural rights. Article 1, Section 1, of our Pennsylvania Constitution states that:

All men are born equally free and independent, and have certain inherent and indefeasible rights, among which are those of enjoying and defending life and liberty, of acquiring, possessing and protecting property and reputation, and of pursuing their own happiness.

Nothing is more central to the happiness of many people than to look after the well being, and enjoy the society of, their grandchildren. Indeed, the only immortality most of us have in this life is the promise offered by children and grandchildren. After years of toil and worry in raising one's own children, grandparents look forward to the opportunity of spending time with their grandchildren, of spoiling them, and of passing on to them family history and the wisdom of ages. long this natural right was denied statutory recognition and protection. that it has been recognized, we find that the Act covers situations like the one presented in this case.

It must be remembered that grandchildren, too, right the natural to know grandparents and that they benefit greatly from that relationship. Grandparents give love unconditionally - without entanglement authority or discipline, and without pressures of other burdensome responsibilities. Children derive a greater sense of worthwhileness from grandparental attention and better see their place in the continuum of family history. Wisdom is imparted that can be attained nowhere else. Wisdom is The benefits derived by a grandchild from the society of his or her grandparents have been touched upon by psychologists and psychiatrists including, most prominently, Erik Erikson, nl They are substantial benefits and should not be lightly regarded by our judicial system. The contention of the Appellant is directly contrary to the purposes of this statute which is intended to provide for the best interest of the child. Bishop v. Piller, 637 A2d 978, 536 Pa41 (Pa. 1994).

A reference list of law review articles regarding the benefits of the grandchild/grandparent relationship is provided. (App.21). The following is representative:

Sociological literature has documented and analyzed the benefits children receive from a healthy relationship with their grandparents. Contact with grandparents produces children who are rooted in and proud of their family

and culture, emotionally secure, and highly socialized. Additionally, interaction between grandparents and grandchildren mitigates ageism in children because older people love them, mitigates sexism because grandmothers and grandfathers do essentially the same thing, and eliminates fear of old age because grandparents serve as ancestor role models. Finally, grandparents can give grandchildren "an emotional sanctuary from the everyday world." These findings are consistent with those of other experts on child development, who generally agree that it is important for ongoing children maintain meaningful to relationships. Zablotsky, <u>To Grandmother's</u> <u>House We Go: Grandparent Visitation After</u> Stepparent Adoption, 32 The Wayne Law Review 46 (1985).

Respondents acknowledge that parents have a constitutionally protected privacy right in family relationship and child rearing. These parental rights exist equally for parents in an intact family and for single parents. Respondents acknowledge that in order for an intrusion upon parental rights to pass constitutional muster there must be a compelling state interest and the least intrusive means should be used.

Respondents dispute Petitioners' claim at the point where they argue that \$752.01(1)(e) fails because it allegedly does not require proof of a showing of substantial harm to the child prior to requiring visitation (I.B 12).

Parents' rights to make decisions regarding their child was addressed in the recent case of MN v. Southern Baptist Hospital of Florida, Inc., 648 So.2d 769 (Fla. 1st DCA 1994). The parents appealed a trial court order authorizing chemotherapy and blood transfusions for their child, who was suffering from leukemia and

other medical problems. The First District analyzed the clash between interests of the state/child and the parents:

[1-4]Ordinarily, decisions regarding the care and upbringing of minor children will be left to the parents. This parent-child relationship is a fundamental liberty interest which is constitutionally protected. Padgett v. Department of Health and Rehabilitative <u>Services</u>, 577 So.2d 133 (Fla.1986); see <u>In Re</u> <u>Dubreuil</u>, 629 So.2d 819, 827 n. 11 (Fla.1993) But the parents' rights are not absolute, as the state has parens patriae authority to ensure that children receive reasonable medical which is for treatment necessary J.V. v. State, 516 preservation of life. So.2d 1133 (Fla. 1st DCA 1987). And as between parent and child, the ultimate welfare of the child is the controlling factor. State v. Reeves, 97 So.2d 18 (Fla.1957). Indeed, the policy of advancing the best interest of the child is well rooted in this state and guides the Court in many diverse contexts. See e.g. <u>Department of Health and Rehabilitative</u> Services v. Privette, 617 So.2d 305 (Fla. 1993); Padgett; Dinkel v. Dinkel, 322 So.2d 22 (Fla. 1975). MN at 770, 771.

The court went on to state the familiar rule that to justify intrusion on parental rights there must be a compelling state interest and the state action must produce the least intrusion possible. Although finding no brightline rule for judging these situations, the court concluded:

Medical treatment may thus be rejected the evidence is not sufficiently compelling to establish the primacy of the state's interest, or that the child's own welfare would be best served by treatment. See Barry; Newmark. On the other hand, the parents' wishes may be overcome when there is sufficient medical evidence to invoke the state's parens patriae authority; and to establish that the child's welfare will be best served by the disputed treatment. (citations omitted) M.N. at 771.

It is interesting to note that Judge Webster, who in his concurring opinion in the instant case argued so fervently that parental rights could not be invaded without proof of detriment to the child, concurred in the M.N. opinion which does not refer to detriment or substantial harm. Obviously, the facts of that case address a possibly life threatening situation, which would be detrimental. The M.N. opinion speaks of "advancing the best interests of the child", "best serving the child's welfare", and of "the ultimate welfare of the child". Why was there no specific reference to harm or detriment? Because it is inherent that the first step in promoting a child's welfare is eliminating harm.

In the case of <u>Schmitt v. State</u>, 590 So.2d 404 (Fla. 1991) the constitutionality of the sexual performance by a child statute, \$27.071, Fla. Stat. was challenged. A father took nude photos and videos of his 12 year old daughter. This court found that "...sexual exploitation of children is a particularly pernicious evil that sometimes may be concealed behind the zone of privacy that normally shields the home. The state unquestionably has a very compelling interest in preventing such conduct." <u>Schmitt</u> at 410. "Substantial harm" to children is not mentioned. It is implicit that it is in children's best interest to prohibit conduct that would harm them.

Respondents do not deny that parents have a longstanding and fundamental interest in raising their children free from governmental interference. One of the many cases cited by

Petitioners, <u>Padgett v. Department of Health & Rehab.</u>, 577 So.2d 565 (Fla. 1991) also contains the following language:

[2] In fact, "the only limitation on this rule of parental privilege is that as between the parent and the child the ultimate welfare of the child itself must be controlling." <u>Id</u>.

While Florida courts have recognized the "God-given right" of parents to the care, custody and companionship of their children, it has been held repeatedly that the right is not absolute but is subject to the overriding principle that it is the ultimate welfare or best interest of the child which must prevail. In re Camm, 294 So.2d 318, 320 (Fla.), cert. denied, 419 U.S. 866, 95 S.Ct. 121, 42 L.Ed.2d 103 (1974). Padgett at 570.

The Padgett decision also contains language requiring proof of a substantial risk of significant harm to a child prior to terminating parental rights. There is no inconsistency in this close juxtaposition of "best interests" and "substantial harm". Best interest is a more broadly embracing term than substantial harm. Best interests can be thought of as a continuum. At one end is substantial harm and at the other end is the best of all things for the child. The two phrases are not opposing. "Best interests" is used frequently and in many different contexts to guide family law trial courts. Respondents' claim that the trial courts of Florida, after considering all of the factors listed \$752.01(2)(a-f) will not order grandparent visitation unless they also determine that to fail to do so would harm the child and not promote the child's best interests.

As the foregoing cases illustrate, when there is state action to advance a child's best interest, the action is being taken to

prevent substantial harm to the child. The absence of the actual words "substantial harm" does not automatically toll the death knell for the constitutionality of \$750.01(1)(e) as Petitioners suggest. When this statute is considered in the context of other statutes intruding upon parental rights and the decisions construing them, it becomes clear that the statute does meet constitutional requirements.

The legislative history of §752.01 (i)(e) is very clear as to the specific intent of the legislature. The legislature was fully aware that it was expanding the scope of grandparent visitation to Senate Staff Analysis and Economic Impact "intact" families. Report on S.B. 484 (February 23, 1993) (App.22). Florida Senate Judiciary Committee Meeting, tape recording of proceedings (February 24, 1993) (tape available from Florida Senate). The motivation behind passage of subsection (1)(e) was to emphasize children's rights. Legislative reports confirm further awareness of a similar statute adopted in Kentucky, which withstood a federal constitutional privacy challenge in the Kentucky Supreme Court. [See <u>King v. King</u>, 828 S.W. 2d 630, 631 (Ky. 1992)]. The United States Supreme Court denied review in King v. King, 113 S.Ct. 328 (1992). Senate Staff Analysis and Economic Impact Report on S.B. 484. (See App.22). See also House of Representative Committee on Judiciary Final Bill Analysis & Economic Impact Statement, CS/HB1685. (App.28). When the bill was presented in the Florida Senate, the sponsor, Senator Grogan, stated that the motivation was not to take rights away from parents or to grant special rights to grandparents, but to place a greater emphasis upon the best interest of the child. Florida Senate Judiciary Committee Meeting, tape recording of proceedings, (February 24, 1993) (tape available from Florida Senate).

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